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1. Name of Property _
historic name West, Oswald, Coastal Retreat (preferred)
other names/site number  West-Bouvy Log House Site

2. Location

street & number 1981 Pacific Avenue N Aa not for publication
city, town Cannon Beach NAA vicinity
state  Oregon code OR county Clatsop code 007 zip code g771g
3. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
[x ] private [ building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
[ ] public-local [ district 2 buildings
(1 public-State % site 1 sites
[] public-Federal structure 1 structures

[] object objects

4 9 Total

Name of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previously

listed in the National Register NAA——

TN/ LY

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
nomination [_] request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the

National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

wﬂe prope meets [_]dges not meet the National Register criteria. D See continuation sheet.

S‘ié'r;ature of certifying dfficial Date
Oregon State Historic Preservation Office
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [:I meets [:]does not meet the National Register criteria. DSee continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
1, hereby, certify that this property is:

[Efntered in the National Register.
[]'see continuation sheet. &um“mﬂx:]t Qm 226 lar
[ ]determined eligible for the National
Register. [::l See continuation sheet.
[ ]determined not eligible for the

National Register.

[ Iremoved from the National Register.
[ ]other, (exptain:)

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action



6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions)
JDomestic: sipgle dwelling
Recreatijon: coastal retreat ===

Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Work in Progress

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(enter categories from instructions)

ot : i (this c]  Ficat]
house notwithstanding loss of the log
house)

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

foundation __stone

walls wood: shingle
roof wood: shingle and weatherboards
other stone stairs, pathways and

ot accessory features

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

[X see continuation sheet
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Section 7: GENERAL DESCRIPTION
1. INTRODUCTION

The Oswald West home on a bluff high above a spectacular section
of beach close to Haystack Rock south of Cannon Beach has special
meaning to citizens of Oregon for two reasons: It is a very good
example of a coastal Adirondack style log cabin. More importantly,
it was built by Oswald West in 1913 who was then the state's
Governor (1911-1915) and who was responsible for the famous
legislation securing all of Oregon's beaches for the public by
declaring them public highways. Clearly his love for Oregon's
beaches is reflected in his love for this home and site, his only
known residence still existing. Sadly, the house burned by arson
in May of 1991 leaving charred walls and a detailed reconstruction
project to come. Nevertheless, this special association of site
{(and potentially the restored home) to a cherished heritage of
Oregon, 1its public beaches, make it worthy of the historic
register.

2. HISTORY

The house was built as a summer retreat for CGovernor West and his
family. Construction was completed by July 25, 1913 as verified
by a postcard bearing the postmark of that date. William Knighton,
the noted state architect, is associated with the building as it
was designed by a woman in his office. Lot P. Keeler was the
carpenter/foreman. Governor West gave him the southerly most lot
(lot 13) for compensation.

Buildings on the property consist of the log house, spring house
and barn. The site, log house and spring house are proposed in
this nomination to the register. The house is oriented for a view
to the ocean and has a wide covered front porch, large stone
fireplace, exposed log construction and shingle rocof. It is of an
Adirondack design adapted for the Oregon Coast.

Uphill to the east sits the original spring house with spring water
still bubbling away. Food was stored here and water piped to the
house. Originally, the spring house had a log base similar to the
house as seen in the early photos. This was reconstructed in stone
by a later owner, Dr. Harry Matthew Bouvy. Dimensions and design
were all identical to the original. No changes to the two pit
wells inside took place.
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A wood barn for the Governor's horses and carriage was built
shortly after 1913 some distance southeast of the main house. A
carriage road led down the southern ravine to the beach, which of
course was used as the highway. The barn was reconstructed in 1981
and altered by the addition of a window, removal of stall
partitions and change in roofing material.

Dr. Harry Matthew Bouvy purchased the property in February of 1936.
During the early years of his ownership, 1936 - 1940, he made the
following improvements: enclosed the southeast porch, created a
small basement area with concrete retaining wall and floor,
installed a central heating system, added electricity and
constructed a concrete path system around the house including the
concrete patio on the south side of the house.

Very sadly, arson destroyed most of the log house May 31, 1991.
The fireplace and chimney are still standing along with enough
walls, partitions and other features for accurate measurements
necessary for reconstruction. Much of the wrought-iron door
hardware and other accessories have been salvaged. Many other
items such as charred doors, windows and railings, while not
reusable, can be used as a source of restoration information. A
preservation architect will be retained to thoroughly document the
remains of the residence to ensure all appropriate dimensions,
materials and details are recorded prior to any demolition.

3. SITE

"Magnificent" accurately describes this nearly 1 acre site. With
the whole coast to choose from, the Governor selected a then
remote, wooded section south of the City of Cannon Beach. While to
the north there are now many houses, to the south the vegetation
remains much as it was.

The house perches some 80' above the beach on a small hill with
ravines north and south. It centers on this knoll and faces the
commanding view of the ocean to the west with Haystack Rock to the
north west.
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The landscape remains much as it always was. Broad lawns still
sweep down the hill on all sides of the house to mounds of native
salal bushes. The original path of dark beach rock and cement
bordered by daisies yet winds its way from the porch down the steep
hill to the beach. Originally, tall stands of Sitka spruce trees
towered beyond the house. One o0ld, windblown specimen remains in
the northwest corner of the site and is a significant landscape
feature. To the south, up the ravine is the original carriage
house, now changed into a wood storage barn. The dJgrassy drive is
still visible here and now leads along the east side to the north
end of the property and present public road. The original carriage
drive up the beach along the southern ravine is long overgrown with
brush.

Just east of the house several vyards and uphill along a concrete
path is the small spring house. Shallow drainage ditches lead
excess water away north and south down the ravines. 0ld logs along
its edge provide both a protective barrier and seating.

Items of current period use dot the yard about the house: a wooden
teeter totter to the north, a small stone grill to the south east,
near it a small square sandbox edged with logs, and about the
concrete patio to the south several short benches made of split
logs with branch legs.

The property occupies approximately .88 acres and is described as
Lots 8 through 12, 14 and 15, Block One, Tolovana, Southeast one-
gquarter, Southeast one—gquarter, Section 30, TFN R 10W, W.M.,
Clatsop County {Note: Governor West initially owned Lot 13 in this
group; however, gave it Mr. Keeler, Superintendent for construction
of the Governor's log house. Lots 5 and 6, Block 3, Tidalview,
were originally owned by Governor West and lie north of Chena
Avenue and in a different ownership than the property subject to
this application. Chena Avenue separates Lots § and 6, Block 3 of
Tidalview from the log house site. Governor West had the pick of
the entire Oregon coast and selected one of the most desirable
settings, approximately 90 feet above the beach with a combination
of path and stair access route to the beach. The tax lot
description is Parcel 500, Township £10, Section 31-AA.
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4. DETAILED DESCRIPTION - HOUSE

Note: For‘purposes of this nomination and as a record, this report
will describe the house in it's original condition and to which it
will be reconstructed.

a. Massing:

As would be expected for a weekend residence built of logs, the
Oswald West cabin had a simple, straightforward appearance. The
form was basic: a broad rectangular, one story volume roughly 40'
by 48'. The ocean facade was inset 11' forming a broad porch the
length of the house. A one-story shed roof entry porch some 7' x
25' was attached to the northeast corner. The slope of this roof
was a bit shallower than the main body of the house.

A pitched, split cedar shingle roof spanned the entire length with
a 6 in 12 slope, roughly parallel to the rise of the hill. An
upper floor tucked within this broad roof. Wide, shed roof dormers
lifted up from the middle of each side. Stone chimneys rose above
each dormer.

b. Construction:

The major structural materials employed through the house were
massive, peeled spruce logs ranging in diameter from 11" to 18" in
size. In classic log cabin design, walls were formed by stacking
peeled logs with saddle notches and extending them at the corners
11" to 18" for stability. Initially, the logs were chinked with
okra and pecora. Inside, this was finished with a coat of plaster
and calcimine. After some time, the exterior chinking was replaced
with cement. Openings for doors and windows were simply cut out
where needed. It 1is interesting to note how strong lateral
stability is provided by interior 1log wall partitions that

interlock mid way through the exterior walls. The interior log
surfaces were varnished. Outside, the walls were untreated and
weathered to a silver grey. The wood windows and french doors,

painted red, added a handsome accent of color.

Pier blocks, simply made by setting very large boulders in the
ground, supported the log floor beams. Floor Jjoists were more
conventional 2x wood framing.

Ceiling beams in the first floor were exposed logs spaced 4' apart.
The ceiling/floor was exposed 1 x 4 tongue and groove fir stained
and varnished.
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The roof structure was not exposed and was of more conventional
milled wood framing covered by split cedar shingles - also
weathered grevy.

c. Plan:

The house had a simple organization with a few major living areas
on the ground level and private sleeping areas above. Except for
enclosing the southeast porch, the layout was never changed from
the original plan.

1). Entry: Access was gained from the east side via a semi-
enclosed porch. This lead to an enclosed hallway. Another lead to
a bathroon. A door to the south provided a side access to the
stair way. A door at the end of this short hall lead directly to
the main living room space.

2). Living room: This was by far the major space in the cabin,
some 18' x 32' in size. A massive (9') fireplace constructed of
rounded beach stones dominated the center of the western wall. An
open, floor level hearth was created by an arched brick opening.
A 6" thick timber spanned the whole face of the chimney which
created a suitably massive mantel.

Walls were exposed, varnished spruce logs. Likewise the ceiling
was formed of exposed log beams and structural fir decking. The
flooring was a finished vertical grain, tongue and groove fir.
Fixed picture windows were located on either side of the chimney
and of the south end of the room which took advantage of the
magnificent ocean views. A door in the north end of the west wall
lead to the porch.

3). Sunroom: A pair of french dcors in the south end of the east
living room wall lead to the sunroom (originally a covered porch).
The south wall had a pair of picture windows and the east wall had
another pair of french doors leading to the outside.

4). Dining: An 11' opening at the north end of the living room
framed the dining area beyond which is some 13' x 18' 1in size.
Floor, wall and ceiling materials were the same as the living room.
The east wall featured an Adirondack style cabinet. Fixed picture
windows were located on the north and west exterior walls.
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5). Kitchen: East of the dining room was the kitchen area, some
19' X 13' in size. A utility door lead from the southeast corner
to the entry porch. Another opening to the east lead to the small
pantry room within the porch structure.

6). Stairway: In the east living room wall opposite the fireplace
a large opening in the log wall lead to a terraced system of stairs
to the upper level. This was also located under a roof dormer

which provided adequate clearance and flooded the space with
natural light from its windows high above.

7). Upstairs: The stair landing lead to a hallway which
connected the four bedrooms. The guardrail was formed of small
tree limbs, in keeping with the Adirondack style. Bedrooms were

located one at the north, two at the south and a fourth in the
middle of the hallway to the west under a dormer. A bathroom lead
off the east end of the north bedroom creating a master suite. A
second bath with original fixtures was located to the east at the
south end of the hall.

Finish materials were rustic, in keeping with the style of the
house: Floors were lightly varnished wood. Walls were exposed 1
%X 12 fir boards with 1 x 4 fir battens and ceilings were unfinished
1 x 4 tongue and groove fir.

d. Detaililed Exterior Description

1). East elevation: This was the entry elevation and presented
some of the more utilitarian features of this house. The north
half of the first floor was the one-story lean-to porch that
protruded from the body of the house. The north portion was a log
enclosure for the pantry area. The south side featured vertical
siding creating a sheltered entry and utility room. A pair of
french doors was located on the far south side. The shingled roof
extended a short distance. A wide shed dormer dominated the middle
portion of the roof with a stone chimney rising up on the right
(north) side. Three windows were randomly placed along the dormer
front: two vertical and one horizontal.
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2). West elevation: This is the most impressive side as befits
its orientation to the ocean and the magnificent view. An 11' wide
porch runs the entire length of the house. Six massive log
columns, some 20" in diameter support, the roof. With capitals of
thick wood blocks, and peri-style arrangement, the columns strongly
resemble precursors of Greek Doric columns. The columns are
arranged to create three bays: pairs of columns at the corners and
single ones at third points.

The exterior log wall under the porch features a wide expanse of
rock chimney plus three fixed windows and a door. Here again,
these are randomly arranged. Yet the regular spacing of the columns
and simple form of the house lend a rustic sense of order to the
whole.

A shed dormer rises from the middle third of the roof sits well

back from the column line. The shed dormer also encloses the
chimney to the right side. A pair of double hung windows center in
the wall.

3). North elevation: This wall of exposed logs presents the full
profile of the gabled roof. The porch creates a void on the right
and the pantry lean-to a "bump out" on the left. Four bays in an A-
B-C-B rhythm are created by the "butting out"” of intersecting log
partitions through the exterior log wall. Windows, each of a
different size, center in each of these bays. But here again,
there is enough order to create a rustic harmony.

4). South elevation: This other gable end facade was covered later
by a layer of vertical board and batt siding for extra protection
from winter storms. The B-C-B rhythm of bays matches the north
elevation. Windows likewise center in each bay plus the gable. A
unigque feature of this sunny exposure is a wood awning located over
the window in the central bay at the living room. Log knee braces
support a log beam, log rafters and shingle roof.
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The Barn:

The barn, which is shown under construction in the photo on the
July 25, 1913, postcard, contained two stalls, a storage area on
the east half, and an area on the west, which was not partitioned,
for the carriage. The area under the pitched roof to the height
of the siding was boarded up as a loft for (hay) storage. In 1943,
Dr. Bouvy made alterations to accommodate his daughter's horse:
two stall partitions were removed; the carriage area was boarded
off as a large box stall, with siding over half way up the north
opening. The original door opening was restored by Lyle Warren.
The siding for the box stall was removed; exterior siding (3" x 10"
bevelled timbers) was replaced on the west, but Lyle Warren added
a window of his own volition.

The restoration and alterations took place to stabilize the
structure. The loft was eliminated in order for the entire
structure to store fireplace wood 30" long, 4 to 5 cords at a time
due to heavy year-round use of the house by the families. The
original shingle roof now has shakes on the north side and rcofing
paper on the south side. No attempt was ever made for faithful
restoration. Rather, it was preserved for a different use from
that for which it was built.

The Sea Wall:

The sea wall was completed by Oswald West by July, 1913. It is
interesting to observe the importance attached to that effort in
terms of preserving the toe of the slope of the land next to the
beach. Dr. Bouvy dug down to its base, added drainage provisions
behind the wall, and grouted the wall, all in the summer of 1937,
as part of his immediate efforts to preserve and stabilize his
property. The stone steps and paths from the beach to the center
of the west porch of the house remain unchanged from 1913 to the
present day. It is necessary to cut back vegetation several times
each year, but the path always has been maintained. {The amount
of sea wall above sand level varies annually as the sand either
builds up or is lowered by tidal action during the winter.)
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5. DETAILED DESCRIPTION - SPRING HOUSE:

The spring house is a charming small structure several yards uphill
from the house. It is square in plan, only 8' per side. A 24"
cased door opening {(no door) centers on the west side. A 32" wide
cased opening is found on the north and south walls. The east wall
is blank. The walls are some 7' high. The bottom half is of dark,
rounded beach stone set in mortar. The upper half is of wood studs
with weathered shingle siding. The hipped wood shingled roof
slopes steeple-like from each wall to a central point. A small
wooden cupola crowns this peak. Inside a 3' circle of large (9")
smooth beach stones set in the earth edges a pool of water created
by the spring. A smaller circle of stones abuts to the south.

The spring house was originally constructed of small logs on the
ground course. In 1936, these logs were completely rotten. Dr.
Bouvy rebuilt the spring house during the summer of 1937, following
the exact dimensions and proportions of the original in every
detail. He rebuilt the ground course out of rocks found on the
beach, the same rocks used to build the sea wall and the chimney
of the main house. These walls remain intact, today.



8. Statement of Significance
Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:

[]nationally K 1statewide [Tiocally

Applicable National Register Criteria DA [z] B EC D D

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [ I8 [Jc [Jp [Je [JF [a

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Sifnificant Dates
Politics/Government 1913-1915 913
_Conservation 1913-1915 1913
Recreation 1913-1939 1913-1926;1936-1939
_Landscape Architecture =~ 1913-1939 1973-1926; 1936-193¢
Cultural Affiliation
N/A
Significant Person Architect/Builder o
_West, Oswald (1873-1960) Unnamed associate of State Architect

William C. Knighton (attributed)
Keeler, Lot P., construction foreman
State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

[X]see continuation sheet
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E] See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description

The nominated property is located in SE% SE% Section 30, TSN, R10W, Willamette Meridian,
Clatsop County, Oregon and is legally described as Lot 8, excepting therefrom a fraction
lying in a separate tax lot at the northeast corner and that portion taken for Hemlock
Street; Lots 9 through 12, Lot 14 and that portion of Lot 15 not dedicated to street
right-of-way, all in Block 1 of the Tolovana subdj[ﬂ'.sion, Cannon Beach. The nominated
area is otherwise identified as Tax Lot 500 at See continuation sheet 5533 jocation.

Boundary Justification

The nominated area includes all of the property held by Governor Oswald West at Cannon
Beach in the years 1911-1926 that is presently associated with the main developed
features of the historic coastal retreat. The contributing features of the nominated
area are counted as follows: site of burned log house that is slated for reconstruction,
spring house, carriage house and system of native lder r walls and stairs and
?athways roviding access from the house to acces e%églt'uf'g rc!n% he beach, making a

Ttal of four con r1hn+1m featnres

11. Form Prepared By

nameltitle Franklin G. Drake
organization date August 15, 1991
street & number 4004 SW Scholls Ferry Road telephone __(503) 292-3208 or 226=3991

city or town Portland state Oregon Zip code __g7221
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The quintessential coastal retreat at Cannon Beach in Clatsop
County, a property of slightly under one acre that was developed by
Oswald West during the time he was governor of Oregon, is proposed
for nomination under Criterion B as that site, notwithstanding loss
of its focal element to fire, that is most importantly associated
with Governor West and his fundamental contribution to the Oregon
conservation movement.

The site, nothwithstanding recent loss of the log house, also meets
Criterion C as an outstanding example of sensitive early 20th
Century site development in a natural setting of recognized scenic
quality. In resort architecture, vernacular log construction and
the Arts and Crafts ideal married well because the object was to
celebrate hand craftsmanship and materials native to the landscape.
The result was a stylistic type that was self-consciously rustic
and which reached its highest expression in the luxurious retreats
of wealthy industrialists in the Adirondack Mountains of New York.
The style was chiefly at home in the forested setting, but it
adapted well to the northern Oregon coast, where timbered ridges of
the Coast Range are an ever-present backdrop, and stretches of
sandy beach are bracketed by rugged headlands. The beaches were
declared public highways by Governor West with the support of the
Oregon Legislature in 1913 in an effort to stop the sale of state-
owned tidelands, namely that area stretching from the ordinary high
tide line out to the three-mile zone. West’s was one of the first
important actions to shape the state’s strong scenic and
environmental conservation ethic.

The 1log house which was the focal feature of the timbered
beachfront tract acquired by Governor West in 1911 is thought to
have been designed by a female architect working in the office of
then current State Architect William C. Knighton. Knighton’s
masterwork in the capital city was being brought to completion
concurrently. The Oregon State Supreme Court Building was opened
for use in 1913. As is confirmed by a picture post card sent by
Mabel West to her mother from Ecola, the site had been cleared and
the house was complete and in use by the family in the summer of
1913, the very year of the governor’s momentous act in reference to
natural resources. From the outset, the property extended the Arts
and Crafts aesthetic to the immediate surroundings. Naturally-
smoothed beach stones, or boulders of the type commonly used for
fireplace chimneys in Craftsman buildings of the rustic vein, were
deployed also for the sea-level retaining wall and 1lining of
driveways and footpaths to the beach which the governor so much

admired in its pristine state. Virtually at the foot of the stone
stairway leading up from the dry sand area stands Haystack Rock, a
distinctive outcrop that has come to be the identifying symbol of
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Cannon Beach. Construction of the house was overseen by Lot
Keeler, a local carpenter to whom West awarded a small subdivision
from the southwest corner of his parcel. The adjacent gift lot has
remained undeveloped to the present day. The Wests visited their
coastal retreat regularly until it was sold in 1926. No other
standing property has been identified either in Portland or in the
capital city that is more immediately or importantly associated
with Os West, governor of Oregon from 1911 to 1915.

On May 31, 1991, the log house was destroyed by fire. The loss is
considered irretrievable with the exception of the main fireplace
chimney of stone and, possibly, a few of the lowermost log courses.
The present owners are descendants of the property’s second long-
term occupants, Dr. and Mrs. Harry M. Bouvy, who acquired the
retreat in 1936 and made certain improvements entirely in the
spirit of the place and the rustic mode. Because initial
improvements carried out by the Bouvys in the first three years of
their ownership enhanced the rustic architectural and landscape
values of the property established in the West period, the historic
period of significance is drawn to the year 1939.

The object of the proposed nomination is to recognize the
historical significance of the site as a whole in the context of
conservation and outdoor recreation in Oregon. The setting,
despite the loss of the log house, is distinguished by its enhanced
native landscape embracing conifers, shore pines, salal and areas
of lawn, by the boulder retaining wall, stairway and pathways, the
spring house and a partially-reconstructed carriage house, or barn.
Each of the developed features is counted a contributing feature
except a Craftsman-style, single-bay garage 1lying far off the
northeast corner of the house site. It is in poor condition and is
to be cleared away in the aftermath of the fire. Because it post-
dates the period of the Wests’ association with the site and pre-
dates the period of the Bouvys’ thoughtful improvements to house
and yard, it would be considered a non-contributing element if
classified for purposes of this nomination. However, it falls
outside the legal lot lines of the nominated area and, therefore,
is not classified.

Land encompassing one of the rugged headlands (Cape Flacon) that
lay in the path of Governor West’s historic horseback ride by beach
and mail trail from Cannon Beach to Nehalem in 1913, during which
time he conceived of setting aside Oregon tidelands, came into
public ownership as a state park, beginning in 1931. The name
first selected for the area was Short Sand Beach State Park. 1In
1956, the recreation area of some 2,500 acres forested acres in
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Clatsop and Tillamook counties was rededicated as Oswald West State
Park in honor of Governor West’s initiative in protecting nearly
400 miles of Pacific Ocean shoreline.

Oswald West (1873-1960), banker and lawyer, was born at Guelph,
Ontario, Canada, the son of John and Sarah West, who came to Oregon
when the future governor was seven years of age. The family
settled in Salem, the capital city, where West was educated in
local public schools. He entered banking as a clerk and teller in
Salem’s Ladd and Bush Bank in 1889. After several years with the
First National Bank of Astoria on the northern Oregon coast, he
returned to Salem in 1903 and was appointed state land agent by
Governor George Chamberlain and, subsequently, state railroad
commissioner. It was from the vantage of his public service that
West, a naturalized citizen, was nominated and elected governor in
1910. Enteringattheage of 37, he was one of the youngest men to
hold the office. Following his term in the statehouse, he
practiced law in Portland. With his wife, the former Mable Hutton
of Salem, whom he married in 1897, he raised three children.

As governor, "Os" West, as he was known to most Oregonians,
compiled an outstanding record in the stewardship of natural
resources that encompassed more than his tidelands preservation
order. Under his administration the State Forestry Department and
Fish and Game Commission were established. West was ahead of his
time by 50 years in suggesting formaticnofaregional pact governing
use of water resources. He was known for vigorously pursuing
prison reform and creating the State Parole Board. an array of
progressive legislation was enacted at his urging, including laws
to eliminate indeterminate sentencing for criminal offenses and
provide for minimum wage, workmen’s compensation and widow’s
pensions. The woman’s suffrage initiative was passed in Oregon in
1912 with the support of Governor West. During his term, in 1913,
the Legislative Assembly created the State Highway Commission,
which initially was composed of the governor, secretary of state
and state treasurer. Thus, Os West presided over and materially
contributed to the founding of the system of highways and parks
that would develop as a distinguishing feature of the state of
Oregon.
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SECTION NO. 8:

The history of ownership regarding the subject property is as
follows:

- M.S. and Edra Warren to Oswald West, September 5, 1911

- Oswald West to Mabel West September 27, 1912

- Mabel and Oswald West to Robert and Blanche Ellis January 25,
1926

- Robert Ellis to Blanche Ellis May 28, 1932

- Blanche and Robert Ellis to Margaret 0Olds February 24, 1936

- Margaret 0lds to Doctor Harry M. Bouvy February 27, 1936

- Dr. Bouvy died in 1964; Mrs. Bouvy then owned it until 1978
when she gifted the property to her family, the present
owners.

Oswald West constructed the log cabin while he was Governor of the
State of Oregon. The Governor was best known for his early
interest in the conservation of the State's natural resources.

Following the Governor's term of office, in the mid -1920s, the
Governor found it necessary to sell the property to Robert and
Blanche Ellis. Sale date was in Jan.,1926. Little was done with the
property during the ensuing period until Doctor Harry M. Bouvy
purchased the property in February, 1936. Doctor Bouvy made the
improvements noted in the residence under Item 7 above, and the
Bouvy s continued to maintain the property in excellent condition
throughout their ownership. Doctor Bouvy died in 1964 and Mrs.
Bouvy continued to own and maintain the property until 1978 when
she gifted the property to her family, who are the present owners.

Research indicates that there are no other known existing
residences of Oswald West in the state of Oregon. He was known
to have lived at two locations in Salem, Oregon, both of which have
been replaced with new buildings. A 1915 phone book listed his
Portland address as 750 Irving. Today, at 750 N.E. Irving, the
main branch of the U.S. Post 0ffice is standing. West's
Granddaughter also recalls his living in an apartment at 20th and
Irving, following his Governorship.
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PERTINENT BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION REGARDING
OSWALD WEST, GOVERNOR OF OREGON, 1911-1915

Oswald West was born on a stock ranch near Guel ph, Ontario, Canada
May 20, 1873. West was only 36 when he became Governor of Oregon
and his wife, Mabel, was only 34. Though Republicans then
outnumbered Democrats 4 to 1 in Oregon, West, a Democrat had won
over his friend, Jay Bowerman, a prominent Republican, by 650
votes.

Mr. West's father moved his family to Salem when Os West was four
and from the time he and his wife-to-be entered Grammar School,
Mabel was somewhere near. Os West's father dealt in horses and
cattle and he became an excellent rider and horseman at an early
age. Mrs. West was the daughter of Owen D. Hutton, a long-time
resident of Salem. The Hutton family crossed the plains in
1845, settling on Mission Bottom, north of Salem.

Thanks to Oswald West, Oregon's 14th Governor, legislation was
adopted in 1913 making tideland areas part of the State Highway
System, thereby preserving for the people the beaches of Oregon.
In 1959, in grateful recognition, the State named a scenic ocean
front area "Oswald West Park." The park is a few miles south of
Cannon Beach, Oregon.

The law adopted states: "The shore of the Pacific Ocean, between
ordinary high tide and extreme low tide, and from the Columbia
River on the north to the Oregon/California state line on the
south, excepting such portion or portions of such shore as may have
heretofore been disposed of by the State, is hereby declared a
public highway, and shall forever remain open as such to the
public." ‘ There were only small stretches that
had been disposed of before the law was passed, about 22 miles in

all, mostly along the northern coastline. On this momentous res-
ervation of tidelands, or wet sands, was based the legislation of
1965 and 1967 that secured public recreational use of the beaches.

The Capital Journal, Salem, Oregon, Thursday, March 24, 1949 issue
carried an outstanding tribute to Governor West by the editorial
writer and by Theodore Roosevelt concerning the conservation
policies of Oswald West. The article is quoted in its entirety
below.
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"Os West Had the Vision

Governors of five northwestern states and representatives of
the governors of two others are meeting in Pocatello, Idaho,
to discuss a Columbia River interagency for future power,
irrigation and industrial development.

The governors are, at long last, trying to do what Governor
Oswald West suggested be done in his first message to the
Oregon legislature, 26th session, 1911, on the conservation
of our resources. The excerpt from West's message follows:

'It has been suggested, and the suggestion is
a good one, that the interstate waters of basin
lying within the boundaries of several
adjoining states might, as far as possible be
turned over to the joint control of these
states. As an instance, the Columbia basin is
practically all within the boundaries of
oregon, Washington and Idaho. The water of
that river and its tributaries could
undoubtedly, upon the passage of effective
uniform water laws approved by congress, be
safely turned over to the Jjoint control of
these states.'

'Oregon through the adoption of most excellent
water laws and their effective administration
has shown her ability and willingness to
control, protect and regulate the water of the
streams within her jurisdiction. To join witnh
her sister states in the passage and
administration of uniform laws for the
interstate stream in the Ccolumbia basin would
be but a short step forward.'

Oswald West was one of the most progressive governors
Oregon ever had and always a strong advocate of
conservation, development and welfare measures. We owe
largely to his energy and foresight such creations as the
fish and game commission to preserve wild 1life, the
highway commission to build good roads, the industrial
accident commission to protect 1labor, reforms of the
state prison to abolish the old exploitation and cruelty,
and reforms in the management of state hospitals and
other institutions.
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The late President Theodore Roosevelt,

writing on the

"People of the Pacific Coast," in The Outlook, September,
pays this tribute to the conservation policies of
Oswald West:

1991,

'In Governor West of Oregon, I found a man more
intelligently alive to the beauty of nature and
of harmless wild life, more eagerly desirous
to avoid the wanton and brutal defacement and
destruction of wild nature, and more keenly
appreciative of how much this natural beauty
should mean to civilized mankind, than almost
any other man I have ever met holding high
political position...He desires to preserve for
all time our natural resources, the woods, the
water, the soil, which a selfish and short
sighted greed seeks to exploit in such fashion
as to ruin them, and thereby to leave our
children and our children's children heirs only
to an exhausted and impoverished inheritance;
he desires also to preserve, for sheer love of
their beauty and interest, the wild creatures
of woodland and mountain, of marsh and lake and
seacoast; and while he puts the economic need
first, the need of permanently bettering the
material well-being of our people being the
foundation purpose of the movement, he also
puts in prominent position the desirability of
adding to our stock of popular pleasure and
interest the inexhaustible delight that comes
from knowing and loving, in and for itself, the
wealth of beauty in bird and tree and blossom.
The lack of power to take joy in outdoor nature
is as real as misfortune as the lack of power

to take joy in books.'
* * *

Oswald West had the vision which many of his successors

lacked,

or Oregon would have long ago taken the lead in a

cooperative regional agency of state and national control and
development of the columbia river valley, which the national
administration seeks to make a centralized, federal political
agency like the TVA, and deprive the entire region of control
of its resources and their development which will be turned
to carpet bag politicians to play with. And ‘where there
is no vision the people perish.'"

over
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In the search to locate other properties associated with Oswald
West from 1911 to 1915, while he was Governor of Oregon, none could
be found remaining today. In fact, there is no other residence in the
capital city or in Portland that the Wests occupied after leaving the statehouse
that is more importantly associated with Oswald West and his public deeds.

The significance of the Cannon Beach property and the log house
West built 1is strengthened in relationship to the legislation
Governor West promoted. West had the foresight to block the sale of Oregon's
tidelands. 1In declaring the wet sands area from ordinary high tide to three.
miles seaward a public highway based on the customary use of the beaches as

wagon and mail routes, and in getting the legislature to support the executive
order in law, West laid the foundation for legislation in the 1960s that made
firm the public's right of access to and use of the beaches for recreational
purposes. In 1965, the Oregon Leglislature reclassified the beaches as a rec-
reation area, rather than a public highway. In 1967, the legislature enacted
the Oregon Beach Law, thus giving legal underpimning to traditional public use
of the adjacent dry sands area andgivingthe state authority to control develop-
ment seaward of a permanently established zone line.

It is clear that inspiration for the means by which further sale
of Oregon tidelands to private ownership could be blocked

had come to Governor West while he occupied his own summer retreat
on what was then uninhabited shoreline.l Others would soon discover
the wonders of the Oregon Coast:. When West bought the property
from Mark S. and Edna Warren on September 5, 1911, he had his
choice of the entire coast. This site, still intact for the most
part, is dramatic and is made more so by the parcel of undevel-
oped land adjacent to the southwest corner of. the holding. The hope
is to preserve this most compelling part of coastline that served
as West's inspiration and, thereby, to commemorate his far-reaching
conservation initiative. : '
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lOswald West to Chester Armstrong, Superintendent of Oregon State Parks, from

Portland, June 15, 1958. The inscription on the postal-card photograph reads
as follows: 'Dear Armstrong: This is my old saddle horse, 'Fred the Freak.'

I rode him from Elk Creek down Camnon Beach, and via Arch Cape over Neshkahnie
Mountain mail trail to Nehalem. This was when and where I caught my inspiration.
Your friend, Oswald West." Oregon State Parks files.
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PHOTOGRAPHS - SERIES A

Photo No.: 1 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: Summer 1911

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223

View: Site, Seawall Footpath, Road for horses to pull logs up to
site from beach, beginning of construction.

Photo No.: 2 of 19:
West-Bouvy Log House
Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, possibly Woodfield, Richard C. Powers copy
Date: July, 1913
Negative Location: Har

Portland, Oregon

View: Front of #3 of 1

riet B. Drake, 4004 SW Schells Ferry Road,
97221
9, Site, Terrain, west and south elevation

Photo No.: 3 of 19:

West Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Richard C. Powers, Post Card by Mrs. Mark Warren

Date: July 25, 1913

Negative Location: Harriet B. Drake, 4004 SW Scholls Ferry Road,
Portland, Oregon 97221

View: Back side of #2 of 19 - confirms date of completion of
construction

Photo No.: 4 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: 1936

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
View: Site, terrain, west elevation

Photo No.: 5 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: 1939

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
View: West Elevation
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Photo No:. 6 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, COregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: 1939

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
View: South elevation and patio

Photo No: 7 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: 1939

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97233
View: SE corner, south elevation, looking west

Photo No: 8 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
Date: 1939 '

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
View: East elevation, southeast sunroom enclosed

Photo No: 9 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: 1914, Summer

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223

View: Spring house, west elevation )
(L.to R: Back Row: Sarah Barker Hutton, mother of Mabel
Hutton West; R. ?; Helen (daughter with bow), Oswald West-
Governor, Mabel {(wife); George Lovell and Lynn Lovell, friends
from Salem; Rt. Owen D. Hutton, Father of Mabel Hutton West;
Holding Baby (Chester Olcott, b. May, 1914) is baby's mother,
Lena Hutton Olcott, sister of Mabel West.
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Photo No: 10 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copvy

Date: 1920

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223

View: Spring house, with Oswald West daughters, Jean and Helen on
horse; west elevation - log base

Photo No: 11 of 19:
West-Bouvy Log House
Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon
Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copv
Date: 1939 ’
Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
View: Spring house, rebuilt with stone base, west elevation
»

Photo No: 12 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: 1937

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
View: Living Room fireplace, looking west

Photo No.: 13 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: 1939

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
View: Living room, looking north

Photo No.: 14 of 19~

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop Lounty, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: 1939

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
View: Dining room, kitchen door, sideboards
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Photo No.: 15 of. 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: 1939

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 990C SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
View: Dining room, looking north

Photo No.: 16 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, QOregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: 1939

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
iew: Upstairs hall, stair rail, sea grass chair, wool rag rugs,

looking east.

Photo No.: 17 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: 1939

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
View: Master {(north) bedroom looking west

Photo No.: 18 of 19:

West-Bouvy Log House

Cannon Beach, Clatsop County, Oregon

Photographer: Unknown, Richard C. Powers copy

Date: July, 1933

Negative Location: Dick Powers, 9900 SW Inez, Tigard, OR 97223
View: North elevation

Photo No.: 19 of 19-

West-Bouvy Property

Cannon Beach, Clatsop_County, Oregon

Photographer: Harriet B. Drake

Date: May 31, 1991

Negative Location: EHarriet Bouvy Drake, 4004 SW Scholls Ferry Road,
Portland, Oregon 97221

View: North elevation
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PHOTOGRAPHS - SERTES B OSWALD WEST COASTAL RETREAT (1913), Carmmon Beach
L 1o . Clatsop County, Oregon
of

Historic view, circa 1913
Source of original and negative: Oregon State Parks and Recreation Department
. 525 Trade Street SE, Salem, OR 97310
Oswald West, governor of Oregon 1911-1915
and protector of Oregon tidelands, is pictured astride his saddle horse on
Crescent Beach in present-day Ecola State Park, in Clatsop County. Tillamook
Rock Light is offshore in the distance. In 1913, West declared the beaches a
public highway and was backed by legislative action which laid the foundation
in law for later initiatives concerning recreational use of the ocean shores.
In a 1958 inscription to Parks Superintendent Chester Armstrong on this postal-
card photograph, the former governor recalled the momentous ride he made some
45 years earlier from Elk Creek down Cammon Beach and via Arch Cape over the Neahkah-
nie Mt.mail trailto Nehalem. ''This was when and where I caught my inspiration,"
he explained.

Recent views, May-July, 1991

Photographer: John Barker, Fletcher Farr Ayotte, Architects
115 NW First Averue, Portland, OR 97209

2 of 12 General view of site from the west.

3 of 12 General view of the house and site from the beach (looking east).
4 of 12 Detail of stone stairs leading to front porch.

5 of 12 Close view of stone fire grate at rear of house.

6 of 12 Detail of stone well surround in spring house.

7 of 12 Historic spring house, north and west elevations.

8 of 12 Historic spring house, west and south elevationé.

9 of 12 Craftsman style, shingle-clad garage post-dating Oswald West's

period of occupation. This building is slated for removal. Its
status is not classified because it is outside the nominated area.

10 of 12 View of south end of house, looking west/northwest.

11 of 12 View of south and east elevations of house following the fire of May 31
showing extensive loss of upper story and damage generally.

12 of 12 View of north and west elevations following the fire.
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